Forecasting event attendance with anonymized mobile phone data

C. Cloquet¹, V. D. Blondel¹,

^aInstitute of Information and Communication Technologies, Electronics and Applied Mathematics (ICTEAM), Université Catholique de Louvain, Louvain-la-Neuve, Belgium

Abstract

No reliable tool exists to forecast the attendance to large events. In this paper, we propose two methods using anonymized mobile phone data to forecast the time of the maximum attendance, for exceptional events known in advance. Our contributions are:

- a comparison between the time evolution of the number of text messages, voice calls, Foursquare check-ins, Twitter messages and headcounts, for three different events;
- a forecast method of the time at which people do not flow anymore to the event, based on the fluxes of people heading towards the event;
- a forecast method of the time at which people do not flow anymore to the event, based on text messages sent to the event;
- an insight into a forecast of the number of attendants.

We stressed the usefulness of anonymized mobile phone data with respect to social network data by showing that the social network data are noisier than mobile phone data, and not always consistent with them. The flux method is able to forecast 9 to 183 minutes in advance an upper bound on the time at which people do not flow anymore to the event, with an absolute accuracy of 10 to 53 minutes. The interactions method is able to forecast 35 to 43 minutes in advance a minimal footprint of the people calling to the event with an accuracy of -35 to -21 minutes. Finally, we were able to provide upper and lower bounds on the number of attendants 39 to 174 minutes in advance.

Keywords: mass gatherings, crowd, forecast, mobile phones, social networks, public preparedness

Introduction

From Olympics to local performances, mass gatherings bring along specific health and security challenges. A large crowd not only increases the probability of stampede, but also makes individual

Email addresses: c.cloquet@gmail.com (C. Cloquet), vincent.blondel@uclouvain.be (V. D. Blondel)

injuries and illnesses more likely. Respiratory diseases, dehydration, epileptic seizures and cardiovascular strokes are commonly reported during such events and their number increases with the crowd size. Moreover, flows of people need to be specifically managed. Failures in crowd management often result in crowd-related disasters, impairing the health and the life of numerous people, putting a high strain on the community resources, on both short and long term, and affecting the reputation of their leaders [37, 23, 50, 26, 53, 54, 45, 58].

For instance, the 2010 Love Parade in Duisburg (Germany) gathered more than one million of people on a site where only 250,000 were allowed. Nothing enabled the authorities to forecast and properly react to such a high attendance [26, 22]. Even for lower-profile events, the situation can rapidly become critical. In Lille (2004), a concert has been canceled because the police has been overwhelmed by the arrival of 60,000 people instead of the 25,000 expected [12]. According to news reports and emergency services, in Brussels a concert organized during the Music Festival in June 2011 attracted more than 50,000 people instead of 22,000. Because the planning had been done on a low risk basis, the medical and security services have been submerged: numerous syncopes and injuries had to be treated, which led to the call of back-up personnel and ambulances at the worst moment [42].

To guarantee to the attendants the same level of care and security as in their daily life, without overwhelming the local emergency and security services, medical workers and security officers are often deployed in advance. The exact staffing depends on the risk profile of the event, as determined by a pre-event risk assessment, accounting for variables such as the type of event and of public, the presence of alcohol or the expected influence of the weather [13, 21, 24, 35].

The crowd size is one of the main risks drivers [4]. It is also one of the most difficult to forecast, even a few hours in advance. Even the simple estimation of the crowd size, be it during or after the event, is challenging for large open events, and the results may differ because of the different stakes at play [43, 57, 61, 62, 15]. Today, only rough forecasts can be obtained using past experience or hotel bookings [39]. These methods are at least inaccurate, time consuming and worryingly unable to cope with last minute fluctuations.

There is therefore a need for tools to reassess the risk level of events on short term, and in particular to forecast the crowd size well before people arrive at the event. These tools would give time to the authorities to increase the medical and security staff, to call back-up ambulances and material, and to redirect the flows of people by closing subway stations or highways exits.

To be efficient and affordable even for a priori low risk events, and to be able to work on countryscale, the tool cannot depend on a dedicated infrastructure or require an active participation of the users. This rules out monitoring of radio interfaces such as Bluetooth [60, 59] and Wifi [1], and collaborative solutions under the form of smartphone applications [67], even if they are suited for crowd monitoring at event-scale. At the same time, event monitoring and prediction from online social media, like Twitter and Foursquare, is still in their infancy and far too inaccurate [30, 29, 2, 27, 18], even if social media might be suited for user recommendation systems [19].

If an existing country-wide infrastructure is to be used, the most promising way to collect data therefore rests on anonymized mobile phone data. Even tough mobile phone data have been used for retrospective urban sensing [41, 10, 44, 20, 14, 7], real-time monitoring solutions are appearing [51, 9, 38, 52], and could be used for instance to detect events [55].

Many studies have been devoted to the predictability of human mobility using mobile phone data. Up to now, the conclusions they have drawn mostly rely on the recurring behavior of people [6, 20, 49, 25, 46]. Moreover, predictive modeling has been mainly limited to traffic prediction and mobile network management. For instance, Aoudjit et al. [3] used association rules discovery to infer the next cell of a user and Lin et al. [31] designed a model to forecast the motion of people in the adjacent cells. Some other work focus on the prediction of the next place of people [56, 16, 70]. These predictive models rely on space-time evolution of the mobile users. Curiously, mobile point-to-point communications have been of little attention for forecast methods, despite the study of Calabrese et al. [11] about their potential to predict face-to-face meetings.

At the same time, the use of anonymized mobile phone data to study crisis and events is emerging [34, 47, 28, 33, 5, 17], even if no operational system is in view. Xavier et al. [69, 68] described the attendance to large events in Brazil, aiming at characterizing the mobility of users at such events. In view of a predictive system using anonymized mobile phone data, Ponieman et al. [40] showed that knowing the past attendance of fans to soccer matches increased the user location predictability. Such an historical information can however not be used to forecast the attendance to new, non recurrent events. Finally, Morlot et al. [36] developed a predictive model for people displacements between hotspots in a city-wide event, using a Markov chain process. They however assume that people moved inside the city from one hotspot to another, which is not the case at the beginning of a large event.

In this paper, we address the issue of short term crowd forecasting for exceptional events known in advance, using anonymized mobile phone data, and stress the usefulness of using interactions data (person A at position x calls person B at position y) in addition to presence data (A at x) only. We are interested in the participation of people to exceptional mass gatherings, i.e. in the moments of their life they do not present a regular or recurring pattern; we therefore do not rely on historical data about the subscribers' behavior. Finally, our aim is to forecast crowd dynamics, which appeals to different methods than individual mobility forecasts.

Our contributions are :

• a comparison between the time evolution of the number of text messages, voice calls, Foursquare

check-ins, Twitter messages and headcounts, for three different events ;

- a forecast method of the time at which people do not flow anymore to the event, based on the fluxes of people heading towards the event (flux method);
- a forecast method of the time at which people do not flow anymore to the event, based on text messages sent to the event (interactions method);
- an insight into a forecast of the number of attendants.

Methods

Dataset

We illustrate our findings on three different events (Tab 4). For these events, we acquired anonymized mobile phone data (events A-C), Twitter data (events A-B), Foursquare data (events A-C) and manual headcount (event C).

Anonymized mobile phone data

We used anonymized call detail records (CDR) of a Belgian telecommunication operator. Each time a call is issued or a text message is sent, the mobile operator generates a CDR containing the identifiers of the sender (A-number) and of the receiver (B-number), a timestamp, the cell where the sender was at the beginning of the call, and the duration of the call. A similar CDR is generated when the call or the text message is received, with the position of the receiver at the beginning of the call. For one call or text message for which both the sender and the receiver are customers of the same mobile phone operator, the database therefore contains two half-CDRs. When we needed to know the relationship between the caller and the callee, the two half-CDRs have been unified in one full-CDR as follows. For voice calls, a unique number identified the call, so that the two legs have been unambiguously linked. It is not the case for text messages. As a text message is not received at the same moment it is sent, time differences might occur between the cells. We therefore unified the half-CDRs by taking, in the set of half-CDRs with corresponding A and B-numbers, the first text message that was received in the same minute the text message was sent. Tab 5 summarize the characteristics of the data sets used.

The time was rounded to the minute. The identifiers of the subscribers have been anonymized differently for each dataset, a measure that has been judged sufficient by the Belgian Privacy Commission to consider the data as anonymous. Within these data, we define a *check-in text message* (resp voice call) as the first text message (resp. voice call) issued by a person at a venue during the time of the study.

For privacy reasons, these data could only be processed within the mobile operator premises.

Social network data

We collected 6.229.573 geo-tagged tweets from 129.506 users between 29/10/2013 and 18/2/2014, for which the geographical coordinates fell into a rectangle surrounding Belgium using the Twitter API. Among these data, we selected tweets issued around the 3 venues (see Fig 6 D-F). We also collected public Foursquare check-ins through the Scraperwiki platform [66], by extracting tweets containing the keyword '4sq.com' and one of the following keywords : "I Love Techno 2013", "Stade Maurice Dufrasne", "Stade Roi Baudouin".

Manual headcount data

We received figures of the attendance to event B from the organizers and we estimated the attendance to event A and C from websites (see Tab 6).

Moreover, for event C, we counted manually the time evolution of the number of people exiting from the main subway station close to the stadium ¹. Between 6:15 pm and 8:45 pm, we counted 4400 people exiting from the station. We estimate the relative error on our measurements to 5 % on average and to 10-15 % during the peak of arrivals, which is accurate enough to identify the peak of arrivals.

Results

Comparison between mobile phone, Twitter, Foursquare and manual headcount data

We divided the time line into 15-minutes intervals and counted the number of calls and text messages in each time interval. Fig 1-3 show the rate of incoming and outgoing voice calls and text messages for both the day of the event and the previous day. The voice calls before the start of event A are probably issued or received by the customers of a large store nearby the event venue². On Saturday, the shop closes at 8 pm, and on Friday at 9 pm, which is visible on the reference day on the right. Overall, the number of text messages is 12 to 28 times higher than the number of voice calls (see Tab 7 in section **Methods**). Moreover, from the difference between the check-in volumes curves and the total volumes curves, we observe that, on average, one person issues more text messages than voice calls during the event. The two dippings in voice calls volumes and in text messages volumes during the events B and C correspond to the game, as already observed in Xavier et al. [69].

Fig 4 shows the Foursquare, Twitter and check-in text messages for the three events. Our observations emphasize the lower noise in text messages data with respect to social network data. Moreover, depending on the event, the Foursquare/Twitter volume is in advance (events A and C), or in phase with the check-in text messages volume (event B).

¹subway Heysel, (latitude, longitude) = (50.8966, 4.3366) in WGS-84 coordinates

 $^{^{2}}$ (latitude, longitude)=(51.023, 3.688) in WGS-84 coordinates.



Figure 1: Calls and sms volumes per 15 minutes for event A (left) and reference day for the same venue (right). (a-b) Voice calls incoming to the venue (blue), voice calls issued from the venue (green) and check-in voice calls placed when at the venue (red). (c-d) Text messages sent to the event (blue), text messages issued from the event (green) and check-in text messages (red). All the values are numbers per 15 minutes. Points are drawn at the beginning of each time interval. The vertical dashed lines denote the beginning and the end of the event.



Figure 2: Calls and sms volumes per 15 minutes for event B (left) and reference day for the same venue (right). (a-b) Voice calls incoming to the venue (blue), voice calls issued from the venue (green) and check-in voice calls placed when at the venue (red). (c-d) Text messages sent to the event (blue), text messages issued from the event (green) and check-in text messages (red). Right scale: number of arrivals (black). All the values are numbers per 15 minutes. The time at which the points are drawn correspond to the beginning of the 15 minutes time interval. The vertical dashed lines denote the beginning and the end of the event.



Figure 3: Calls and sms volumes per 15 minutes for event C (left) and reference day for the same venue (right). (a-b) Voice calls incoming to the venue (blue), voice calls issued from the venue (green) and check-in voice calls placed when at the venue (red). (c-d) Text messages sent to the event (blue), text messages issued from the event (green) and check-in text messages (red). Right scale: number of arrivals (black). All the values are numbers per 15 minutes. The time at which the points are drawn correspond to the beginning of the 15 minutes time interval. The vertical dashed lines denote the beginning and the end of the event.



Figure 4: Twitter messages, Foursquare check-ins and check-in text messages for the 3 events. Volume of Twitter messages (green), Foursquare check-ins (green) and text-message check-ins (red) per 15 minutes, for events A-C. The text message volumes are less noisy than the social network volumes. No Twitter messages could be recorded during event C due to a failure of the server.

Detailed study: international soccer match

Fig 3 (A,C) shows the time evolution of the number of arrivals (black), the check-in voice calls (A, red) and the check-in text messages (C, red) for event C (an international soccer match).

There is a 30 minutes-delay of the check-in text messages peak with respect to both the headcounts and the check-in voice volume; this delay is more than one hour for the tail. Oppositely, the first peak of the check-in voice coincides with the peak of arrivals (Fig 3 C). The check-in voice peak is however broader than the arrival headcount peak; it falls immediately after the beginning of the game, to rise again at half-time. A similar behavior has been observed for event B (Fig 2).

If voice calls are used mainly before the game, at half-time and at the end of the game, text messages are used during the game; the text messages volume decreases less than the voice calls volume, meaning that people use the voice calls to coordinate a meeting when arriving on site, whereas text messages are preferentially used to share about the event during the event. This is further reflected by peak in outgoing text messages 7-8 minutes after each goal (see Fig 9 in **S1**). The phone and text message behavior are thus very different, even at the filling of the event.

Finally, mobile phone and social media behaviors are different. For instance, there is no Foursquare check-in during the peak of arrivals 4(C), and 44 pc of the check-ins occurred after the beginning of the match, even tough no supporters flux has been observed in the main subway station. Our observation therefore suggests that people wait to be seated before they check in.

Forecast

Predicting the moment when no more people will arrive to the event is critical for emergency services. We investigated the value of anonymized mobile phone data to forecast this moment, by concentrating on methods that focus on the crowd as a whole rather than on the mobility of individuals. To evaluate the approaches, we define the *forecast horizon* as the time interval between the *end* of the last time interval used to make the forecast and the *beginning* of the time interval of the prediction, and the *forecast accuracy* as the time between the forecast and the observed time. The forecast accuracy is positive if the forecast is larger than the observed time.

Flux method

We leveraged the collective tendency of people to place or receive multiple calls and text messages increasingly close to the event venue as they approach. For instance, Fig 5 depicts the time evolution of the distance between the venue of event A and the cells where one subscriber placed or received calls and text messages.

To assess the collective displacement of people towards the event, we divided the area surrounding the venue into three concentric rings with bounds [0, 2[km, [2, 5[km and [5, 15[km and with as center the main cell of the venue (events A-B), or the geometrical center of the venue (event C) (Fig 6).



Figure 5: Distance of a subscriber to the venue of event A in function of the time. Time and distance are squeezed to arbitrary units to protect the user's privacy.

For each time interval t and each ring r, we computed the average distance $d_{i,t,r}$ of customer i to the event. For each subscriber, we built an array $[d_{i,t_1,r}, d_{i,t_2,r}, \ldots d_{i,t_N,r}]$, where $t_1, \ldots t_N$ depict the time intervals where subscriber i has been observed (either calling, sending an sms, receiving a call or an sms). Subscriber i has then been counted as approaching (resp leaving) the event at time t_k if $d_{i,t_k,r} - d_{i,t_{k-1},r}$ was < 1m. (resp > 1m.). We then defined the subscribers flux at time t as the difference between the number of subscribers approaching and the number of subscribers leaving. To get rid of the noise, we arbitrarily considered that the subscribers flux was zero as soon as the subscribers flux curve reached 10 pc of its maximum.

Fig 7 (A-C) shows the net number of people moving towards the venues, for the events A-C, and the different rings. The subscribers flux in [0-2] km stands out of the noise for event A and C, whereas the [2-5] km flux is relevant for events B and C. Fig 6 allows to interpret these differences. Event A attracts a young population from very distant places, even from abroad. Therefore, most of the inbound flux should occur along the main roads. The cells in the second ring, which are mostly located in the city of Ghent probably only play a minor role. Therefore, the fluxes are only visible in the smallest ring. Event B attracted people from Bruges (about 1000 according to the organizer), but mainly from Liège (about 23,000 according to the organizer), situated in the second ring, so that the second ring displays most of the flux. Finally, for event C, people came from the whole Belgium, by car and by public transportation. The density of the cells of the two first rings along the main roads and public transportation lines is large enough for the fluxes to be visible in these two first rings.

In the case of event C, the maximum of the subscribers flux of the [2-5] km ring occurs 45 minutes before the maximum of the flux in the [0-2] km range, which leads to a "group velocity" of a approximately 4.5 km/h. Moreover, the flux of [0-2] km ring crosses the 10 pc line 16 minutes after the flux in the [2-5] km ring and 39 minutes *after* the beginning of the game. Our headcount showed that no more people flowed to the event after the beginning of the game, hence the vanishing of the flux curve



Figure 6: Concentric circles with radii 2, 5 and 15 km around the venues (left) and area within which the tweets were collected (right). From top to bottom: venues of events A-C. The black dots on the pictures of the left column depict the sites of the antennas. Cartographic background by Stamen Design under CC BY 3.0. Cartographic background data by OpenStreetMap, under CC BY SA.



Figure 7: Subscribers fluxes (A-C), mean distance to the event $\langle d(t) \rangle$ of the text messages sent to the event (D-F) and standard deviation $\sigma_d(t)$ (G-I) A-C: subscribers fluxes for rings [0,2[km (blue), [2,5[km (green) and [5,15[km (dotted red) versus time, and predictive fits (black dotted). The horizontal dashed line indicates a null flux. A positive flux is directed towards the event. D-F : mean distance between the event and the cells of the text messages sent to the event (blue) +/- standard deviation (dotted), G-I : standard deviation of the mean distance between the event and the cells of the text messages sent to the event ($\sigma_d(t)$, blue), and predictive fits (black dotted). The horizontal dashed line indicates the plateau reached by $\sigma_d(t)$. The vertical dashed lines indicate the official beginning and end of the event. The first (resp: second, third) column correspond to event A (resp B, C).

should be interpreted as a late indicator that the whole crowd is concentrated at the venue.

Finally, in events A and C, there is an outgoing subscribers flux in the [5-15[km ring before the event, probably due to the departure of the people from the nearby store (event A) and from the workers and students out of Brussels at the end of the workday (event C).

Using a linear regression on 4 points including the maximum subscribers flux, we forecasted the time at which the flux would cross the 10 pc line. Compared to the moment when the actual flux reaches the 10 pc line, we obtained an absolute accuracy of 10 to 53 minutes, and a forecast horizon of 9 to 183 minutes (Tab 1, columns 2-5). In one case (event C, flux in the [0,2[km ring), the forecast horizon is negative. However, as the flux is less noisy than for event A, three points are enough to make the prediction, leading to an accuracy of 5 minutes and a forecast horizon of 11 minutes (Tab 1, columns 6). The forecast of event B is 53 minutes ahead of the moment the flux curve crosses the 10 pc line. However, the flux curve does not vanish as expected during the event. In this case, the 10 pc crossing of the flux curve is not a good indicator of the performance of our forecast. Using this subscribers flux forecast method, we are therefore able to provide an upper bound on the time at which the whole crowd is concentrated at the venue.

Interactions method

People use their mobile phones to coordinate their meeting-ups [32]. When on the way to an event, they call or text to friends that are either on the way to the event or already arrived. Therefore, the probability that someone calling or texting to the event will eventually come is fairly high with respect to the probability that someone calling somewhere else will come to the event.

In the filling phase of the event, the volume of calls or text messages received at the event event increases exponentially (Fig 1-3) and depend both on the number of people arriving and on the number of people already present. These volumes can thus hardly be leveraged to forecast their own maximum. Contrarily, the mean distance of the callers to the event, denoted by $\langle d \rangle$, only depends on the mean position of the callers, regardless of their number. Fig 7 (D-F) depicts the mean position of the senders of text messages to the event that were within 20 km of the venues. We only took into account the first text message sent by each subscriber.

Let $\langle d(t) \rangle = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} d_i$ be the average distance of the N people that send a text message to the event between time t and $t + \Delta t$, and $\sigma_d(t) = \frac{1}{N} \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (d_i - \langle d \rangle)^2}$ the standard deviation on $\langle d \rangle$. We consider here $\Delta t = 15$ min. Fig 7 (G-I) shows that, as time approaches the beginning of the event, $\sigma_d(t)$ decreases to reach a plateau between 0.39 km (event B) and 0.57 km (event C). The plateau values have been computed as the average $\sigma_d(t)$ during the event. Event A is particular: it is extended in time and people can arrive when other already leave. The plateau value of 0.85 km has therefore been fixed arbitrarily around the minimum of $\sigma_d(t)$. The first time $\sigma_d(t)$ crosses the plateau

is significant. For instance, for event C, it corresponds to the moment where no one arrives anymore, as assessed by our manual headcount.

To predict the crossing with the plateau, we adjusted a linear polynomial using 5 points including the maximum of the curve found in the 4 hours before the event. By finding the intersection between the fitted line and the plateau value characteristic of the event, we were able to predict the plateau with a forecast horizon of 35 to 43 minutes and a forecast accuracy of -35 to -21 minutes (see Fig 2). This means that the actual crossing of the plateau occurs later than predicted. In one case (event B), the forecast horizon is negative. Four points could have been used for the fit, leading to an horizon of 7 minutes and an accuracy of -36 minutes.

Towards an event attendance forecast

As a first step towards an event attendance forecast, we combined the standard deviation $\sigma_d(t)$ with the volume of text messages sent from the event V(t) as follows. First, we fitted a linear and an exponential function on the first five monotonically increasing data points of V(t) following the maximum of the standard deviation $\sigma_d(t)$ (see **Interactions method**). Then, we forecasted a lower (resp an upper) bound on the maximum of V(t) by computing the value of the linear (resp exponential) fit when the forecasted $\sigma_d(t)$ vanished (Fig 8). We finally obtained a lower (resp an upper) bound of the number of attendants by dividing the bounds on V(t) by the maximum number of outgoing text messages per 15 minutes and per attendant of Tab 7. Tab 8 report the upper and lower bounds, together with the observed attendance (See Tab 3 in **S2** for details). We observe that the ration between the upper and the lower bound ranges from 1.8 to 7.



Figure 8: Event attendance forecast for events A-C. Number of outgoing text messages (blue) and projected attendance based on a linear fit (plain red) and an exponential fit (dashed red) on four data points (circles). The stars denote the projected attendance at the time where $\sigma_d(t) = 0$.

Discussion

Summary

In this work, we proposed two crowd forecast methods using anonymized mobile phone data, and illustrate them on three different events at three different venues. We stressed the usefulness of anonymized mobile phone data with respect to social network data by comparing the time evolution of text messages, voice calls, Foursquare, Twitter and manual headcount. We showed that the social network data are noisier than anonymized mobile phone data, and not always consistent with them. Moreover, we found that the time evolution of the text messages curve was shifted with respect to the participants arrival.

We then proposed two forecast method of the time at which people do not flow anymore to the event. This *flux method* is based on the flux of subscribers heading towards the event and is able to forecast a null flux 9 to 183 minutes beforehand with an absolute accuracy of 10 to 53 minutes. The *interaction method* is based on the text messages sent to the event and is able to forecast a minimal footprint of the callers to the event 35 to 43 minutes in advance with an accuracy of -35 to -21 minutes.

Anonymized mobile phone data and social network data

The volumes of voice calls and of text messages showed different time evolutions, indicating that they convey different pieces of information. Voice calls appear to be related to coordination of meeting, whereas text messages seem to be related to experience-sharing. Voice curves and text message curves should therefore not be merely added, but separately treated as two information on different processes.

In this study, we showed that social network data are noisier than anonymized mobile phone data. Moreover, at event C, no Foursquare check-ins were observed between 19:45 and 20:15, when a lot of people arrived. Combined to the ease to spoof geo-tagged social network data [71], our observations suggest that social network data are not reliable as only means to monitor the crowd at an event in public safety applications. However, whereas mobile phone data are not available instantaneously after the phone call or the text message has been issued, social network data are available in real time, and their content is public. It might be therefore interesting to combine both technologies in the same situational awareness tool. However, as the curves of the mobile phone data and of the social networks activities are not always aligned, careful analysis is needed to find the best way to match them.

Forecasts

Mobile phone volumes are increasing exponentially at the filling time of the event (Fig 1-3) and are therefore useless to forecast their own maximum without external information. In this work, we introduce two methods to forecast the moment at which no people flow to the event anymore, based on external information. The *flux method* is based on the flux of subscribers converging to the event, and the *interactions method* uses the standard deviation of the mean position of the people sending a text message to people at the event.

The flux method demonstrated that the data are rich enough to indicate the convergence of the people towards the event. Moreover, an ascending slope indicates that a crowd is forming ; this could be used in event detection, but is out of the scope of this paper. We hope that better forecasts will

be achievable with a sharper definition of the fluxes and a careful account of the geography of the cell phone and public transportation network.

The interactions method depends on an external parameter, the plateau value. Further research should indicate if this value depends on the event or, more likely, on the characteristics of the venue, and its surrounding cells density. It is interesting to note that the forecast of the standard deviation method corresponds to the peak of the flux method, even tough these two forecasts are based on different information.

A deeper analysis of other events at the same venues and at other venues should enable us to refine these results. Finally, our work should be further validated by considering both events and non-events, and by performing a prospective study.

Limitations

The use of anonymized mobile phone data is limited by a call behavior that differ between people. Events however often attracts people of well-defined age or interests groups, wherein we can expect that the mobile phone behaviour is rather uniform. Therefore, classes of events, such as concerts, sport competition or classical festivals will probably need to be separately studied.

Importance of field validation of the hypothesis

This study enlightened the importance of headcounts to bridge the observed quantities (calls, text messages, Foursquare check-ins, Twitter messages) and the actual evolution of the crowd. This counting should be the most careful for safety applications.

In public safety applications, errors in the attendance forecasts might be deleterious if the crowd has been underestimated. We therefore suggest that, in the current state of our knowledge, the observations of the crowd with mobile phones should be used to indicate where high concentrations of people happen or might happen in the future, and should be less trusted when they indicate low figures. Moreover, depending on the accuracy required in the real time operational system, it might be wise to cross-validate the data with those obtained from some headcounts points inside the event.

Ethical issues

A forecast system such as the one we propose has definite benefits for the safety of the citizens, with minimal impact on the privacy. No personal data need to be disclosed to third parties, be it public agencies or event organizers. Most of the computation rely on aggregated data, even tough the observation of check-in voice calls and check-in text messages need to keep track of an anonymized identifier of the subscribers. However, to do so, we only need to build a list of the anonymized identifiers that have already been observed, without keeping the whole history of the user, making cross-events correlations impossible. In any case, no historical information of more than a few hours before the event should be stored, and no information, aside of the curves generated should be stored after the event.

Finally, our methods preserve the individual privacy but crowd forecast raise broader ethical issues. These issues should be addressed by involving all the stakeholders, among which the emergency and security services, the organizers, the civil society and the human right associations.

Other perspectives

The scaling between the number of calls or text messages and the number of attendants to the event might depend on several factors, which can be studied on an event type basis. However, how to precisely relate the fluxes and the standard deviation used to make the forecasts to the actual evolution of the number of attendants remains an open question.

The estimation and forecast of the fluxes should be improved by taking into account the road network and the coverage of the cells. The use of isochrone maps may help, even if they may be distorted when a large amount of people is converging towards the same event. In that case, we suggest that such maps should be computed from the anonymized mobile data themselves. The interaction method should be refined by accounting for the skewed nature of the distribution of the distance of the callers to the event, and should take into account the spatial distribution of the cells to determine the plateau value.

Our work demonstrated the ability of text messages and call meta-data to monitor and forecast the flows of people in large events. More accurate information could also be used, such as handovers or updates of the position of the cell phone even when no call is in progress. We hope that these would increase the forecast accuracy.

Acknowledgments

We thank Belgacom for having provided us the opportunity to work in their premises on an anonymized subset of their data. We thank the soccer club of the Standard de Liège for having kindly provided us attendance data. This research has be possible thanks to the interest of many members of the Belgian emergency services, among which the Railway police and the Belgian Red-Cross.

Conflicts of interests

The researchers confirm to have no financial conflict of interests in this research. The research has been done inside the mobile phone operator premises. However, the operator did not contribute financially to the research, and the material used remained in their premises. One of us (CC) is a voluntary member of a medical emergency organization.

References

- Abedi, N., Bhaskar, A., Chung, E., oct 2013. Bluetooth and Wi-Fi MAC address based crowd data collection and monitoring: Benefits, challenges and enhancement. In: Proceedings of the 36th Australasian Transport Research Forum. Brisbane, Australia.
- [2] Altshuler, Y., Fire, M., Shmueli, E., Elovici, Y., Bruckstein, A., Pentland, A. S., Lazer, D., 2013. Detecting anomalous behaviors using structural properties of social networks. In: Greenberg, A., Kennedy, W., Bos, N. (Eds.), Social Computing, Behavioral-Cultural Modeling and Prediction. Vol. 7812 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 433–440.
- [3] Aoudjit, R., Belkadi, M., Daoui, M., Chamek, L., Hemrioui, S., Lalam, M., 2013. Mobility prediction based on data mining. International Journal of Database Theory and Application 6, 71–78.
- [4] Arbon, P., Bridgewater, F. H., Smith, C., Sep. 2001. Mass gathering medicine: a predictive model for patient presentation and transport rates. Prehosp Disaster Med 16 (3), 150-158.
 URL http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11875799
- [5] Bagrow, J. P., Wang, D., Barabsi, A.-L., 2011. Collective response of human populations to largescale emergencies. PloS one 6, e17680.
- [6] Barabasi, A.-L., 2005. The origin of bursts and heavy tails in human dynamics. Nature 435, 207–211.
- [7] Becker, R., Cceres, R., Hanson, K., Isaacman, S., Loh, J. M., Martonosi, M., Rowland, J., Urbanek, S., Varshavsky, A., Volinsky, C., 2013. Human mobility characterization from cellular network data. Communications of the ACM 56 (1), 74–82.
- [8] Belga news agency, nov 2013. Près de 30.000 festivaliers à I Love Techno (newspaper article).
 URL http://www.lalibre.be/culture/musique/pres-de-30-000-festivaliers-a-i-love-techno-527f449e35
- [9] Calabrese, F., Colonna, M., Lovisolo, P., Parata, D., Ratti, C., 2011. Real-time urban monitoring using cell phones: A case study in Rome. IEEE Trans Intell Transp Systems 12, 141–151.
- [10] Calabrese, F., Lorenzo, G. D., Liu, L., Ratti, C., 2011. Estimating origin-destination flows using opportunistically collected mobile phone location data from one million users in Boston metropolitan area. IEEE Pervasive Comput. 10, 36–44.
- [11] Calabrese, F., Smoreda, Z., Blondel, V. D., Ratti, C., 2011. Interplay between telecommunications and face-to-face interactions: A study using mobile phone data. PloS one 6 (7), e20814.

- [12] Centres de ressources du spectacle vivant, juin 2004. Organiser un évènement artistique sur l'espace public : quelle liberté, quelles contraintes ? compte rendu de la journée d'information des centres de ressources du spectacle vivant, lundi 7 juin 2004. URL http://www.irma.asso.fr/IMG/pdf/Journe_eInfo-7 juin2004-2.pdf
- [13] Commonwealth of Australia, 1999. Safe and Healthy Mass Gatherings. Australian Government Attorney General's Department – Emergency Management Australia, Australia. URL http://www.health.sa.gov.au/pehs/publications/ema-mass-gatherings-manual.pdf
- [14] Csaji, B. C., Browet, A., Traag, V., Delvenne, J.-C., Huens, E., Dooren, P. V., Smoreda, Z., Blondel, V. D., 2013. Exploring the mobility of mobile phone users. Phys A 392, 1459–1473.
- [15] de Grandpré, F., LeBlanc, M., 2010. Veut-on d'une méthode précise d'évaluation des foules lors d'un défilé? In: Proceedings of the 2010 conference of the travel and tourism research association (Canada chapter). Quebec.
- [16] Gambs, S., Killijian, M.-O., del Prado Corte, M. N., 2012. Next place prediction using mobility Markov chains. In: Proceedings of the First Workshop on Measurement, Privacy, and Mobility.
- [17] Gao, L., Song, C., Gao, Z., Barabasi, A.-L., Bagrow, J. P., Wang, D., 2014. Quantifying information flow during emergencies. Nature Scientific Reports 4, 3997.
- [18] Gayo-Avello, D., 2012. I wanted to predict elections with Twitter and all i got was this lousy paper" – a balanced survey on election prediction using Twitter data. arXiv, 1204.6441.
- [19] Georgiev, P., Noulas, A., Mascolo, C., 2014. The call of the crowd: Event participation in locationbased social services. arXiv, 1403.7657.
- [20] Gonzalez, M. C., Hidalgo, C. A., Barabasi, A.-L., 2008. Understanding individual human mobility patterns. Nature 453, 779–782.
- [21] Government of Western Australia Department of Health, 2009. Guidelines for concerts, events and organized gatherings. URL http://www.rgl.wa.gov.au/ResourceFiles/Publications/EventsGuide2009.pdf
- [22] Helbing, D., Mukerji, P., 2012. Crowd disasters as systemic failures: Analysis of the love parade disaster. EPJ Data Science 1 (7), 1–40.
- [23] Hsieh, Y.-H., Ngai, K. M., Jr, F. M. B., Hsu, E. B., 2009. Epidemiological characteristics of human stampedes. Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness 3, 217–223.

- [24] Interassociation de Sauvetage, 2003. Directives pour l'organisation du service sanitaire lors de manifestations. URL http://www.ivr-ias.ch/cms/upload/RL_Veranstaltungen_03_F.pdf
- [25] Jarv, O., Ahas, R., Saluveer, E., Derudder, B., Witlox, F., 2012. Mobile phones in a traffic flow: A geographical perspective to evening rush hour traffic analysis using call detail records. PLOS One 7, e49171.
- [26] Johansson, A., Batty, M., Hayashi, K., Bar, O. A., Marcozzi, D., Memish, Z. A., 2012. Crowd and environmental management during mass gatherings. Lancet Infect Dis 12, 150-156. URL http://press.thelancet.com/mg4.pdf
- [27] Kallus, N., apr 2014. Predicting crowd behavior with big public data. In: Proceedings of the 23rd international conference on World WideWeb. Seoul, Korea.
- [28] Kapoor, A., Eagle, N., Horvitz, E., 2010. People, quakes, and communications: Inferences from call dynamics about a seismic event and its influences on a population. In: Proceedings of the 2010 AAAI Spring Symposium: Artificial Intelligence for Development.
- [29] LI, R., Lei, K. H., Khadiwala, R., Chang, K. C.-C., 2012. TEDAS: a Twitter based event detection and analysis system. In: Proceedings of the 28th IEEE International Conference on Data Engineering.
- [30] Liang, Y., Caverlee, J., Cheng, Z., Kamath, K. Y., 2013. How big is the crowd? Event and location based population modeling in social media. In: Proceedings of the 24th ACM Conference on Hypertext and Social Media. URL http://faculty.cse.tamu.edu/caverlee/pubs/liang13hypertext.pdf
- [31] Lin, Y.-B., Huang-Fu, C.-C., Alrajeh, N., 2013. Predicting human movement based on telecom's handoff in mobile networks. IEEE Trans Mobile Comput 12, 1236–1241.
- [32] Ling, R., Haddon, L., 2001. Mobile telephony, mobility and the coordination of everyday life. In: Machines that become us : the social context of personal communication technology.
- [33] Lu, X., Bengtsson, L., Holme, P., 2012. Predictability of population displacement after the 2010 Haiti earthquake. PNAS 109, 11576-11581.
 URL http://www.pnas.org/content/109/29/11576
- [34] Madey, G. R., Szabo, G., Barabsi, A.-L., 2006. Wiper: The integrated wireless phone based emergency response system. In: Alexandrov, V., Albada, G., Sloot, P., Dongarra, J. (Eds.),

Computational Science ICCS 2006. Vol. 3993 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 417–424.

- [35] Ministère français de l'Intérieur, 2006. Référentiel National Missions de sécurité Civile. URL http://www.secourisme.net/IMG/pdf/RNMSC-DPS.pdf
- [36] Morlot, F., Baccelli, F., Elayoubi, S. E., 2010. An interaction-based mobility model for dynamic hot spot analysis. In: Proceedings of the 29th conference on Information communications. San Diego, CA.
- [37] Ngai, K. M., Burkle, F. M., Hsu, A., Hsu, E. B., 2009. Human stampedes: A systematic review of historical and peer-reviewed sources. Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness 3, 191–195.
- [38] Orange Business Services, nov 2013. Flux Vision : la première offre big data d'Orange Business Services à destination des entreprises et des collectivités.
- [39] O'Toole, W., 2010. Events Feasibility and Development From Strategy to Operations. Butterworth Heinemann, Ch. Crowd Number Forecasting for Special Events: discovering the industry standard.
- [40] Ponieman, N. B., Salles, A., Sarraute, C., 2013. Human mobility and predictability enriched by social phenomena information. In: Third conference on the Analysis of Mobile Phone Datasets. Cambridge, MA.
- [41] Quercia, D., Lorenzo, G. D., Calabrese, F., Ratti, C., 2011. Mobile phones and outdoor advertising: Measurable advertising. IEEE Pervasive Comput. 10, 28–36.
- [42] Radio Télévision Belge Francophone, Journal Télévis, 22 June 2011, 2011. Bruxelles: affluence record sur la place des Palais pour Taratata. URL http://www.rtbf.be/info/medias/detail_fete-de-la-musique-affluence-record-sur-la-place-des-pa
- [43] Raybould, M., Mules, T., Fredline, E., Tomljenovic, R., 2000. Counting the herd. using aerial photography to estimate attendance at open events. Event Management 6, 25–32.
- [44] Reades, J., Calabrese, F., Sevtsuk, A., Ratti, C., 2007. Cellular census: Explorations in urban data collection. IEEE Pervasive Comput. 6, 30–38.
- [45] Sanders, A. B., Criss, E., Steckl, P., Meislin, H. W., Raife, J., Allen, D., 1986. An analysis of medical care at mass gatherings. Ann Emerg Med. 15, 515-519.
 URL http://www.annemergmed.com/article/S0196-0644(86)80984-2/abstract

- [46] Schneider, C., Belik, V., Couronn, T., Smoreda, Z., Gonzlez, M., 2013. Unravelling daily human mobility motifs. J R Soc Interface 10, 1742–5662.
- [47] Schoenharl, T., Bravo, R., Madey, G., 2006. Wiper: Leveraging the cell phone network for emergency response. International Journal of Intelligent Control and Systems 11, 209–216.
- [48] Snoeys, A., nov 2013. I Love Techno teert verder op onveranderd recept (newspaper article). URL http://www.demorgen.be/dm/nl/2590/Festivals/article/detail/1738029/2013/11/10/I-Love-Techno-
- [49] Song, C., Qu, Z., Blumm, N., Barabasi, A.-L., 2010. Limits of predictability in human mobility. Science 327, 1018–1021.
- [50] Soomaroo, L., Murray, V., fev 2012. Disasters at mass gatherings: Lessons from history. PLoS Curr Disasters 4, 2012 Jan 31 [last modified: 2012 Mar 13].
- [51] Steenbruggen, J., Borzacchiello, M., Nijkamp, P., Scholten, H., 2012. Data from telecommunication networks for incident management: An exploratory review on transport safety and security. Transport Policy 28, 86–102.
- [52] Steenbruggen, J., Borzacchiello, M. T., Nijkamp, P., Scholten, H., 2013. Mobile phone data from GSM networks for traffic parameter and urban spatial pattern assessment: a review of applications and opportunities. GeoJournal 78, 223–243.
- [53] Steffen, R., Bouchama, A., Johansson, A., Dvorak, J., Isla, N., Smallwood, C., Memish, Z. A., 2012. Non-communicable health risks during mass gatherings. Lancet Infect Dis 12, 142-149. URL http://press.thelancet.com/mg3.pdf
- [54] Tam, J., 2012. Research agenda for mass gatherings: a call to action. Lancet Inf Dis 12, 231–239.
- [55] Traag, V. A., Browet, A., Calabrese, F., Morlot, F., October 2011. Social event detection in massive mobile phone data using probabilistic location inference. In: Proceedings of the 3rd IEEE Conference on Social Computing.
- [56] Tran, L.-H., Catasta, M., McDowell, L. K., Aberer, K., jun 2012. Next place prediction using mobile data. In: Proceedings of the Mobile Data Challenge Workshop. Newcastle, UK.
- [57] Tyrrell, B. J., Ismail, J. A., 2005. A methodology for estimating the attendance and economic impact of an open-gate festival. Event Management 9, 111–118.
- [58] US department of Homeland security, O. o. I. A., may 2012. Terrorists' interest in attacking theaters and similar mass gatherings. URL https://info.publicintelligence.net/DHS-FBI-TheaterAttacks.pdf

- [59] Versichele, M., Neutens, T., Delafontaine, M., de Weghe, N. V., 2012. The use of Bluetooth for analyzing spatiotemporal dynamics of human movement at mass events: A case study of the Ghent festivities. App. Geogr. 32, 208–220.
- [60] Versichele, M., Neutens, T., Goudeseune, S., van Bossche, F., van de Weghe, N., 2012. Mobile mapping of sporting event spectators using bluetooth sensors: Tour of Flanders 2011. Sensors 12, 14196–14213.
- [61] Warnick, R. B., Bojanic, D. C., Sheel, A., Mather, A., Ninan, D., 2010. Economic impact and market analysis of a special event: The great new england air show. In: Proceedings of the 2009 Northeastern Recreation Research Symposium. pp. 247–255.
- [62] Watson, R., Yip, P., sep 2011. How many were there when it mattered? Significance 8, 104–107.
- [63] website, last accessed Apr 10, 2014. Belgique côte d'ivoire : Sold out. URL http://www.belgianfootball.be/fr/nouvelles/belgique-c%C3%B4te-divoire-sold-out
- [64] website, last accessed Apr 10, 2014. Belgique côte d'ivoire, match nul 2-2. URL http://www.belgianfootball.be/fr/nouvelles/belgique-%E2%80%93-c%C3%B4te-d%E2%80%99ivoire-match
- [65] website, last accessed Apr 10, 2014. Match belgique cte d'ivoire en direct (score, buts, rsultats en direct.
 URL http://www.foot-direct.com/amical/belgique-cote-d-ivoire-m1617993
- [66] website, scraperwiki, last accessed on Apr 10, 2014. URL www.scraperwiki.com
- [67] Wirz, M., Franke, T., Roggen, D., Mitleton-Kelly, E., Lukowicz, P., Trster, G., 2013. Probing crowd density through smartphones in city-scale mass gatherings. EPJ Data Science 2, 5.
- [68] Xavier, F. H. Z., Silveira, L. M., Almeida, J. M., Malab, C. H., Ziviani, A., Marques-Neto, H., 2013. Understanding human mobility due to large-scale events. In: Third conference on the Analysis of Mobile Phone Datasets. Cambridge, MA.
- [69] Xavier, F. H. Z., Silveira, L. M., Almeida, J. M., Ziviani, A., Malab, C. H., Marques-Neto, H., december 2012. Analyzing the workload dynamics of a mobile phone network in large scale events. In: Proceedings of the first workshop on Urban networking. Nice, France.
- [70] Zhang, D., Zhang, D., Xiong, H., Yang, L. T., Gauither, V., 2013. NextCell: Predicting location using social interplay from cell phone traces. IEEE Trans Computers (to appear).
- [71] Zhang, Z., Zhou, L., Zhao, X., Wang, G., Su, Y., Metzger, M., Zheng, H., Zhao, B. Y., 2013. On the validity of geosocial mobility traces. In: 12th ACM Workshop on Hot Topics in Networks.

Supplementary material S1

Text messages and phone calls during the international soccer match Belgium-Ivory



Coast (March 5, 2014).

Figure 9: Number of text messages (blue, left scale) and voice calls (green, right scale) per minute, issued from the event. The arrows indicate the time of the four goals, along with the score [64, 65]. The stars indicate the corresponding peaks in the text messages volumes. The peaks are delayed by 7-8 minutes, presumably due to the combination of three factors: the misalignment between the mobile cell clock and the event clock, the delay in the beginning of the game, and the rising time of the peaks following the goals.

Supplementary material S2

T	1 •	1	•
Forecast	horizons	and	accuracies
rorccubt	1101 120110	ana	accuracios

	event A	event B	event C	event C	event C
Range [km]	[0, 2[[2, 5[[2, 5[[0, 2[[0, 2[
Number of points	4	4	4	4	3
End of last interval	13-11-09 22:15	13-11-10 14:30	14-03-05 20:45	14-03-05 21:30	14-03-05 21:15
Predicted	13-11-10 01:18	13-11-10 14:39	14-03-05 21:17	14-03-05 21:22	14-03-05 21:26
Observed	13-11-10 00:56	13-11-10 15:32	14-03-05 21:07	14-03-05 21:21	14-03-05 21:21
F. horizon (min)	183	9	32	-8	11
F. accuracy (min)	22	-53	10	1	5

Table 1: Flux method forecast: forecast horizon and accuracy

Forecasts of the time when the subscribers fluxes in the indicated ranges cross thee 10 pc. line. The forecast uses the number of points specified in row 3, including the maximum of the fluxes. Row 4 indicates the end of the last time interval available to make the forecast, ie the moment at which the data are available. Row 5 and 6 report respectively the predicted and observed crossing with the 10 pc line, resulting in the forecast horizon and accuracy reported in the last two rows.

	event A	event B	event C	event B
Number of points	5	5	5	4
End of the last interval	13-11-09 20:00	13-11-10 13:30	14-03-05 19:30	13-11-10 13:15
Predicted	13-11-09 20:35	13-11-10 13:21	14-03-05 20:13	13-11-10 13:22
Observed	13-11-09 21:09	13-11-10 13:58	14-03-05 20:34	13-11-10 13:58
Forecast horizon (min)	35	-9	43	7
Forecast accuracy (min)	-35	-37	-21	-36

Table 2: Interactions method: forecast prediction and accuracy

Forecasts of the moment when the standard deviation $\sigma_d(t)$ crosses the plateau specific to the venue. The forecast uses the number of points specified in row 2. Row 3 indicates the end of the last time interval available to make the forecast, is the moment at which the data are available. Row 4 and 5 report respectively the predicted and observed time when $\sigma_d(t)$ crosses the plateau, resulting in the forecast horizon and accuracy reported in the last two rows.

	event A	event B	event C
Number of points	5	5	5
End of the last interval	13-11-09 20:15	13-11-10 13:30	14-03-05 20:00
Forecasted max outgoing sms (lin)	973	1059	894
Forecasted max outgoing sms (exp)	6786	2003	5613
Time of the forecast	13-11-09 22:54	13-11-10 14:09	14-03-05 20:40
Forecasted max attendance (lin)	17,000	13,000	11,000
Forecasted max attendance (exp)	120,000	24,000	71,000
Observed max outgoing sms	1677	1982	3536
Time of the observation	13-11-10 00:45	13-11-10 14:15	14-03-05 21:45
Max attendance	30,000	23,848	45,000
Forecast horizon (min)	174	39	40
Forecast accuracy (min)	-111	-4	-65

Table 3: Event attendance forecast: forecast prediction and accuracy

Forecasts for the event attendance using the specified number of points (row 5) after the maximum of $\sigma_d(t)$, including the maximum. Row 4 and 5 indicate the forecasts of the outgoing sms volume. Row 6 and 7 indicate the corresponding forecasted attendance, using the figures of Tab 7.

Tables

	type	event & place	begin & end	reference day
Α	A techno music	I Love Techno	09-nov-2013	08-nov-2013
	festival	Flanders Expo, Ghent	7 pm-6:30 am	
		(51.027, 3.692)		
В	A league 1 national	Standard - Bruges	10-nov-2013	09-nov-2013
	soccer match	Dufrasne Stadium, Liège	2:30 pm-4:15 pm	
		(50.610, 5.544)		
С	An international	Belgium - Ivory Coast	05-mar-2014	09-nov-2013
	soccer match	King Baudouin Stadium,	8:45 pm-10:30 pm	
		Brussels		
		(50.896, 4.334)		

Table 4: Events studied in this work

The figures between brackets are respectively the latitude and the longitude in the WGS-84 coordinate system.

	Table 5: Datasets			
	events A & B	event C		
begin	$7/11/13~6~{ m pm}$	5/3/14 12 pm		
end	11/11/13 2 am	6/3/14 1 am		
voice calls outgoing	18,755,048	4,815,562		
voice calls incoming	12,700,390	3,363,182		
text messages incoming	88,818,139	$19,\!893,\!495$		
text messages outgoing	83,896,027	18,732,016		

Datasets used for events A, B and C (begin and end of the dataset, number of voice calls and text message sent and received).

event	attendance	source
Α	$\lesssim 30,000$	[48, 8]
В	23,848	organizer
С	$\sim 45,000$	[65, 63]

Table 6: **Event attendance**

Table 7: Number of voice calls and tex	t messages per attendant	during the events
--	--------------------------	-------------------

			event A	event B	event C
outgoing voice calls	$\max/15 \min$	$[\times 10^{-2}]$	0.33	2.0	0.48
	total	$[\times 10^{-2}]$	8.5	2.4	1.2
outgoing text messages	$\max/15 \min$	$[\times 10^{-2}]$	5.6	8.3	7.9
	total		1.5	0.30	0.34
check-in voice calls	total	$[\times 10^{-1}]$	0.5	1.1	0.3
check-in text messages	total	$[\times 10^{-1}]$	1.8	1.9	1.2

Number of outgoing voice calls, outgoing text messages, check-in voice calls and check-in text messages per attendant. Max/15 minutes refers to the maximum number observed in the 15 minutes time intervals. Total refer to the total volume during the whole event.

	Event A	Event B	Event C
Forecasted max attendance (lin)	17,000	13,000	11,000
Forecasted max attendance (exp)	120,000	24,000	71,000
Max attendance	30,000	23,848	45,000

Table 8: Upper and lower bound on the attendance forecast